017 SID J. WHITE NAY 31 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk By-

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,859

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ANIBAL RODRIGUEZ,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JORGE ESPINOSA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0779032 Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

This is a criminal prosecution for two counts of attempted first degree murder against a police officer. The State appeals from a Third District Court of Appeal decision certifying the following question of great public importance:¹

> Does the enhancement provision of Florida Statutes section 775.087 (1990) extend to persons who do not actually possess the weapon but who "use" the weapon by committing an overt act in furtherance of its use or possession?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 5, 1981, the police was alerted concerning a shooting at 7th Ave. and North West 20th Street in Dade County, Florida. (TT. 745) City of Miami Officers Kenneth Nelson and Stephen Rossbach responded to the BOLO in a marked unit. (TT. 743) The officers spotted a vehicle driven by two Latin males which matched the description in the BOLO. (TT. 762-763) The two individuals in the vehicle were the defendant, Anibal Rodriguez,

¹ The following abbreviations will be used throughout this brief:

⁽T.) - transcript of post-conviction hearing.

⁽R.) - record of post-conviction proceedings.

⁽TT.) - transcript of trial proceedings, appeal No. 84-2061.

⁽TR.) - record on appeal, appeal No. 84-2061.

driving the car and another individual, Jose Nodal, sitting in the front passenger seat.

The police engaged their sirens and indicated for the defendant to pull the vehicle to the side of the road but the defendant "just kept throwing his hands up in the air in a gesture as if he didn't understand" and kept conversing with the passenger. (TT. 747) The vehicle did not pull over. A hot pursuit ensued in which the defendant ran a stop sign and blocked the officers' attempts to pass the vehicle. (TT. 749)

As the officers followed, Officer Kenneth Nelson noticed the passenger reach between the passenger's seat and the driver's and pull out a semi-automatic AR-15 rifle. (TT. 766) seat The defendant was carrying on his person a .25 caliber pistol which he later discarded. (TT. 874, 887) Officer Nelson yelled a warning to Rossbach and both officers ducked as the passenger fired the rifle twice piercing and shattering the windshield of the police car. (TT. 692-694, 752) Officer Rossbach, wounded in the ear, pulled the car over to the side of the road and crawled out of the car unto a lawn where he held his bleeding face. Id. As he looked up he noticed the defendant's vehicle slow down, appear to begin reversing and then speeding away. Shrader, an animal control officer who was driving behind the officers, also saw the shooting. The defendants were subsequently apprehended. (TT. 479, 805, 806)

The defendant was charged with two counts of attempted first degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense. (TR. 1-3) A jury trial was held in mid-1984 on the two attempted first degree murder counts before the Honorable D. Bruce Levy. (TT. 1) The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to both counts. After a presentence investigation report, the trial judge, on August 21, 1984, sentenced the defendant to two concurrent life sentences. The defendant filed a direct appeal (84-2061) and the Third District Court in August of 1988 affirmed the decision of the trial court. Rodriguez v. State, 528 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

On March 8, 1990, the defendant filed a Rule 3.850 motion for post conviction relief alleging the following issues:

A. The trial court erred in applying s. 775.087(1) F.S. (1983) [enhancement for use of a firearm] in sentencing the defendant.

B. Denial of effective assistance of counsel.

(R. 5-15)

Two hearings were held on the motion on July 19 and July 25, 1990, before the Honorable Fredricka G. Smith, Circuit Court Judge for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit. (T. 1, 3) The trial judge granted the motion based on her finding that although the defendant did carry a pistol during the commission of the crime,

the charging document stated that the weapon used was the rifle and evidence did not show that the defendant ever actually used the rifle.

The State filed an appeal to the Third District Court of appeal. After arguments the Third District affirmed the decision of the trial court. Upon rehearing the Third District certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> Does the enhancement provision of Florida Statutes section 775.087 (1990) extend to persons who do not actually possess the weapon but who "use" the weapon by committing an overt act in furtherance of its use or possession?

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

District The Third Court has misconstrued the intentionally broad language of the enhancement provisions of 775.087(1) Florida Statutes (1990). Since the section enhancement provisions of the relevant statute punish "use" of a firearm, enhancement is appropriate where the defendant does not possess but commits some overt act in support of the use of the This interpretation is consistent with recent authority qun. The evidence showed that the defendant from this Court. maneuvered the vehicle to assist in shooting at the officers and that he encouraged his passenger to shoot. The defendant even stated that the only reason he did not shoot was because he was driving.

Furthermore, while the defendant drove the escape vehicle, a rifle, which the passenger used to shoot at and wound the police officers, was between the passenger seat and the driver's seat within easy reach of the defendant. Accordingly, since the rifle was readily available to the defendant at the commencement of the crime, when the passenger at the driver's insistence formed premeditation to shoot, the defendant was in constructive possession of the rifle. Contrary to the Third District Court's conclusion the enhancement provision could properly be applied to the defendant under the theory of constructive possession.

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE ENHANCEMENT PROVISION OF FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 775.087 (1990) EXTENDS TO PERSONS WHO DO NOT ACTUALLY POSSESS THE WEAPON BUT WHO "USE" THE WEAPON BY COMMITTING AN OVERT ACT IN FURTHERANCE OF ITS USE OR POSSESSION?

ARGUMENT

A PERSON WHO DOES NOT ACTUALLY POSSESS THE FIREARM USED IN A CRIME BUT WHO COMMITS AN OVERT ACT IN FURTHERANCE OF ITS USE, FALLS WITHIN THE BROAD LANGUAGE OF THE ENHANCEMENT PROVISION OF SECTION 775.087 FOR PERSONAL USE AS WELL AS FOR CONSTRUCTIVE USE OF THE WEAPON.

A. Statutory punishment of use.

The Third District Court has certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Does the enhancement provision of Florida Statutes section 775.087 (1990) extend to persons who do not actually possess the weapon but who "use" the weapon by committing an overt act in furtherance of its use or possession?

The State submits that the Third District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the decision of the trial court refusing to allow the enhancement of the defendant's sentence where he sat driving the vehicle, maneuvering the car into a position to fire at the police officers and encouraging his passenger to shoot.

The enhancement provision of Florida Statutes section 775.087 (1990), unlike the minimum mandatory sentence provision, does not require actual possession of the weapon used in the crime. In its opinion the Third District stated that "the enhancement provisions of section 775.087(1), Florida Statutes

(1977), . . . require that the defendant personally possess the weapon during the commission of the crime involved." <u>State v.</u> <u>Anibal Rodriguez</u>, Case No. 90-1907 (January Term 1991). This conclusion is based on the Third District's earlier ruling in <u>Postell v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), which relies, without legal analysis, on this Court's ruling in <u>Earnest v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1977). This lack of legal analysis has perpetuated a misunderstanding by the Third District Court of the scope of the statute's enhancement provisions.

Earnest this Court addressed the minimum mandatory In sentence provisions of the statute and not the enhancement 775.087(2), Florida provisions. Section Statutes (1975),prescribes a three year minimum term of imprisonment for any person convicted of robbery "who had in his possession" a "firearm" or "destructive device". This Court in Earnest interpreted this "possession" requirement to exclude vicarious possession. The enhancement provision of the statute, however, does not contain a possession requirement.

The enhancement portion of section 775.087 states:

(1)Unless otherwise provided by law, whenever a person is charged with a felony, except a felony in which the use of a weapon or firearm is an essential element, and during the commission of such a the defendant carries, felony displays, uses, threatens, or attempts to use any weapon or firearm, or during the commission of such a felony the defendant

commits an aggravated battery, the felony for which the person is charged shall be reclassified as follows...

Florida Statutes 775.087 (1990)(emphasis added) Possession is not required. Unlike the minimum mandatory sentence provision for the enhancement provision of the statute, use or attempts to use are sufficient.

The Third District Court incorrectly distinguished the holding in <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), as a case in which the defendant constructively possessed the firearm during the course of a continuing offense. The holding in <u>Menendez</u>, specifically recognizes the broader "use" language found in the enhancement provision. According to the Court in Menendez:

> [S]ection 775.087(1) at issue here section 775.087(2). is unlike Section 775.087(2) calls for the imposition of a three year minimum minimum sentence when mandatory persons commit certain crimes while having in their "possession" а The courts firearm. have interpreted that subsection as physical requiring the actual possession of the firearm. However, under section 775.87(1), which calls for enhancement of certain felonies committed when the "carries" offender or "uses" а firearm, actual physical possession of the weapon is not required in all cases. We find that an offender does not have to have physical possession of the firearm under subsection (1); but if the firearm is readily available to him, that is sufficient.

Menendez 521 So.2d at 212 (citations omitted).

Although the defendant herein did not actually possess the gun it was readily available to him during the commission of Premeditation is an essential element of attempted the crime. Stone v. State, 564 So.2d 225 (Fla. 4th first degree murder. DCA 1990). In its earlier opinion in this case, the Third District Court affirmed the defendant's conviction for attempted first degree murder noting that the defendant participated in the attempt by driving evasively and maneuvering the car so as to enable the codefendant to attempt to fatally wound the pursuing officers. Rodriguez v. State, 528 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). At the time when the defendant was maneuvering the car and forming premeditation with the codefendant, the gun was readily available to the defendant and he could be said to be in constructive possession. Subsequently, when the codefendant took the gun and fired at the officers, the defendant was "using" the gun as much as if he was pulling the trigger since he was committing overt acts to aid the shooting.

Such a reading of the term "use" is consistent with this Court's recent decision in <u>G.C. v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) <u>affirmed</u> 572 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1991). In <u>G.C.</u>, this Court interpreted the term "use" in the Florida Theft Statute to include actions by passengers in stolen vehicles who never actually control the vehicle, but who aid or participate in the taking of the vehicle. This opinion was clarified subsequently in <u>G.D. v. State</u>, 557 So.2d 123 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) in which the Third District Court held that the commission of an overt act in

furtherance of the theft was sufficient to make the defendant guilty of the theft of the vehicle. In <u>G.D.</u> the mere shouting of an instruction and pointing out a hiding place was deemed sufficient to implicate the defendant as a user although the defendant exercised no control over the vehicle.

The legal situation in the instant case is similar to that in <u>G.D.</u> Although the defendant never actually handled the rifle in question, he shouted instructions to his codefendant encouraging him to fire on the police officers. Simultaneously, the defendant slowed his vehicle and positioned it to directly aid in the attempt on the officers. When asked why he did not fire himself, the defendant did not claim he would not have done so, but only explained that he did not because he was driving. (TT. 889-890)

It is inconceivable to think that the defendant in the instant case is less guilty of the attempted murder against the officers than the defendant in <u>G.D.</u> was guilty of the theft of the automobile. Although it is true that the defendant did not actually possess the gun, it is equally true that the shooting would not have taken place had the defendant not been shouting "Shoot, shoot, shoot" to his partner and had the defendant not purposefully maneuvered his vehicle to set up the shooting. Moreover, since the defendant did not demonstrate any compunction against shooting at the officers, it is not improbable that had the codefendant refused to fire, the defendant would have

maneuvered the police car next to them and fired himself with the revolver which he was carrying.

It is evident from the broad language of the statute that the legislature did not intend this type of use of arms to go Although the minimum mandatory provision unpunished. unquestionably requires actual possession, the enhancement provision of the statute does not. Here, the defendant used the gun as much as the defendants in G.C. and G.D. used the stolen The legislature could not reasonably be said to have vehicles. intended a more restrictive definition of the term "use" in a statute which can usually involve crimes threatening human life than it did in a crime generally involving property. Moreover, the legislature purposefully excluded the the fact that possession language from the enhancement provision of the firearm statutes speaks loudly as to their intent.

interpreted other enhancement Florida courts have provisions to include acts of persons, not in possession of the instrumentality of the crime, who commit some overt act in furtherance of the crime. The Florida Burglary statute punishes the unauthorized use of the property of another and enhances the punishment if the suspect "is armed or arms himself" during the commission of the crime. Florida Statutes Section 810.02 (1990). In Hardee v. State, 516 So.2d 110 (1987) approved 534 So.2d 706, the Fourth District determined that a defendant could be convicted of the crime and have his sentence enhanced for being

armed although there was no evidence that he and not his codefendant was armed during the offense. The Court reasoned that the theft of the handgun by the codefendant was an act in furtherance of a common design to commit the crime and the defendant was a willing participant.

Using even narrower language, the Florida Robbery statute permits enhancement of the defendant's offense if "in the course of committing the robbery the offender carried a firearm or other deadly weapon." This provision has been interpreted to extend to defendants who never actually carried the firearm or weapon. <u>See Jenkins v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Hillman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 410 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982). As noted previously, the enhancement provision at bar extends far more broadly to anyone who "carries, displays, uses, threatens, or attempts to use any weapon or firearm".

It is therefore the State's position that the Third District Court has overlooked or misunderstood the law pertaining to the enhancement provisions of section 775.087. To allow the present opinion to stand would constitute an inconsistent interpretation of statutory terms and would greatly disadvantage the punitive power of the State of Florida. Therefore, this Honorable Court is urged to reverse the decision below.

B. Applicability of constructive possession.

Even if this Court determines that the statutory language and public policy does not mandate the State's suggested interpretation of the statute, the decision below incorrectly rejects the proper applicability of the theory of constructive possession. When a defendant uses a firearm in the commission of an attempted murder, a first degree felony, the conviction may be reclassified to a life felony for purposes of sentencing. § 775.087(1), Florida Statutes (1985). For purposes of such an enhancement the defendant must personally possess the weapon used during the commission of the crime. Postell v. State, 383 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Alternatively, the State may also show that the weapon was "readily available" to the defendant although he did not actually take "physical possession". Menendez v. State, 521 So.2d 210, 212 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Williams v. State, 531 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Where the evidence shows that the defendant participated in the crime while in the possession of a firearm, even where the defendant did not fire the weapon, the defendant's sentence may properly be enhanced. Junco v. State, 510 So.2d 909 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

At trial, Officer Patrick Burns, the arresting officer, testified as follows:

Q. Did he [the defendant] say he tried to stop the car or anything of that nature?

A. When he took off and after he told me that during the chase that when he was running, the reason he ran was because of the drugs in the car, I asked him why didn't he shoot the police officers. He said that he was driving. He said, "Jose, he is a crazy fucker. He is the one that did the shooting."

Q. Were those his words?

Yes, sir, and I said, "Why didn't Α. you shoot?" and he said, again, he said he was driving and I said, "Did you tell Jose to shoot?" and he said he was nervous and scared and he yelled, "Shoot, shoot, shoot." What he was trying to tell me was, I believe, is that he was going to be able to get away-- let me see--

(TT. 889-890)(emphasis added)

Previously, the officer testified that the defendant had personally carried a .25 caliber pistol which he discarded during his flight from the police. (TT. 874, 887)

The Rule 3.850 judge below reasoned that "the defendant never personally carried or displayed the firearm that's alleged in the Information during the commission of the felony." (T. "Although, the evidence is that the Defendant Rodriguez 25) used or possessed a firearm, a different firearm, it was not the firearm alleged in the information." Id. The judge then distinguished Menendez v. State, 521 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), a case in which constructive possession was found, because in Menendez a fingerprint was found on the offending firearm. The judge instead relied on the opinion in Willingham v. State, 541 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), a case in which the court ruled that actual possession of the offending weapon must

be shown and that an enhancement may not be based on a principle theory.

The judge's reliance on Willingham shows а basic misunderstanding of constructive possession. To establish constructive possession the State does not need to argue a Instead, the State must establish that the principal theory. offending firearm was readily available to the defendant at the time of the crime. Herein, the officer testified that the rifle was drawn from between the passenger seat and the driver's seat, a place which would be within easy reach of the driver. (TT. Furthermore, the defendant admitted to the arresting 766) officer that the only reason he encouraged the passenger and did not personally fire on the officers was because he was busy driving. (TT. 889-890)

The defendant's argument below that "I don't see any way where someone can both drive that car and have that weapon readily available" (T. 19), belies the driver's ability to stop the car, grab the rifle and fire or to have the passenger handle the steering while the defendant fired the rifle. The judge's clear concern was that "[t]here is no evidence he [the defendant] had the weapon in his hand" and not that he rejected or even considered constructive possession. (R. 19)

The charging document stated that the defendant committed the crime by shooting a firearm to-wit; a rifle. (R. 1-2) The

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