IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 77,859

SID J. WHITE

JUN 21 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Inef Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,

vs.

ANIBAL RODRIGUEZ,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

BENNETT BRUMMER
Public Defender
Dade County, Florida

MICHEL OCIACOVSKI WEISZ
Special Assistant Public
Defender
3191 Coral Way
Suite 510-A
Miami, Florida 33145
(305) 442-1055

INTRODUCTION

The District Court of Appeal - Third District has certified the following question as one of great public importance:

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

The State's legal analysis is flawed. It argues that the Third District Court of Appeal misunderstood the scope of F.S. 775.087's enhancement provisions. The State first argues that actual possession is not required for enhancement under F.S. 775.087(1)³ because the word "possession" is not used in the statute. However, the State fails to note that "carrying", "displaying", "using" or "attempting to use" a firearm (the terms expressly used in the statute) are all possessory terms. There is no definitional difference between the phrase "possesses a firearm during the commission of a felony", and listing the possessory acts of "use", "display" or "carrying" to define the acts of possession. To the contrary, the listing of specific possessory acts imports a narrower, rather than a broader, scope to the statute. S.R.G. Corp. v. Department of Revenue, (Fla.1977).

The concept of vicarious possession, especially in narcotics crimes, is well established. However "vicarious carrying", "vicarious use" or "vicarious display" are not well defined concepts. Thus, the enumerating of specific possessory acts as a predicate to enhancement under F.S. 775.087(1) implies a specific requirement of actual possession. In the context of statutory

³ "Unless otherwise provided by law, whenever a person is charged with a felony, expect a felony in which the use of a weapon or firearm is an essential element, and during the commission of such felony the defendant carries, displays, uses, threatens, or attempts to use any weapon or firearm, or during the commission of such felony the defendant commits an aggravated battery, the felony for which the person is charged shall be reclassified as follows:..."

construction the express mention of one thing requires the exclusion of things not mentioned. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976). Use of the more general term of "possession" would have suggested, as it did in <u>Earnest v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 957 (FLA. 1977) that vicarious use was a proper basis for enhancement.

In enacting the laws of the state the Legislature is presumed to know the existing law, and unless otherwise defined words are given their ordinary meaning. Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Department of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984). When F.S. 775.087 was enacted, Florida already had a vicarious liability statute. Therefore, if the Legislature intended to enhance the culpability of an unarmed defendant for the acts of an armed co-defendant, the Legislature could have clearly indicated its intention by expressly providing that the provisions of F.S. 775.087 apply to unarmed co-defendants. However, the statute does not expressly do so. It therefore cannot be so construed or applied, especially in the context of a penal statute which is to be construed most liberally in favor of lenity. State v. Jackson, 526 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1988); F.S. 775.021(1).

The State next suggests that the Third District Court of Appeal was remiss in blindly following precedent which lacked analytical rigor. This argument overlooks the fact that more than

Florida Statute 775.087 was first enacted in 1974. Liability for aiding and abetting a felony has been a part of Florida law since 1868. See, Laws of Florida 1868 S. 1,637 Ch. 11 §3, §4.

one case has construed F.S. 775.087(1) as requiring actual possession before enhancement is appropriate.

The seminal case is <u>Earnest v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1977). In <u>Earnest</u> a defendant was convicted of armed robbery. She was sentenced to an additional three year sentence pursuant to F.S. 775.087(2) because her accomplice was armed during the robbery. Both the trial court and the First District Court of Appeal found that enhancement was appropriate under a theory of vicarious possession with respect to an aider and abettor. This court rejected that argument under the doctrine of lenity. Because the statute used the phrase "in his possession" as a pre-requisite to enhancement this court ruled that vicarious possession was not clearly contemplated as a basis for imposing a three year minimum jail sentence to an unarmed co-defendant. This court ruled that actual possession was required.

The Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Postell v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980) ruled that the same analysis applied to F.S. 775.087(1) and that actual possession of a weapon was required before a sentence could be enhanced. The court reasoned, albeit in a footnote, that there was no definitional distinction between a requirement that a defendant "possess" a weapon and that a defendant "carry, display, use, threaten or attempt to use the weapon or firearm". <u>Id</u>. at 1162 n. 7.

Every case that has construed F.S. 775.087(1) since then has required actual physical possession. In fact, in one case the State confessed error when a defendant was given an enhanced

sentence pursuant to F.S.775.087(1) but did not actually carry a weapon during the commission of a felony. Williams v. State, 531 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988). See also, Ngai v. State, 556 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) ("mastermind" of a robbery/murder could not have his sentence enhanced since he did not possess a weapon during the commission of the felony); Willingham v. State, 541 So.2d 1240 (Fla. 2nd DCA) (a defendant who comes into possession of a weapon after the completion of the original felony is not subject to enhancement under F.S. 775.087(1)); Johnson v. State, 560 So.2d 1379 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); and Spellman v. State, 529 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1st DCA) review denied 536 So.2d 245 (1988).

Even the case most heavily relied on by the state, <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) is a <u>personal</u> possession case. Any suggestion to the contrary is a misreading of the case. In <u>Menendez</u> the defendant was convicted of trafficking in cocaine. The hotel room in which he was arrested contained a pistol under a mattress with his fingerprint on it. The defendant was subject to the enhancement provisions of F.S. 775.087(1) because, the court reasoned, trafficking is an ongoing endeavor. Since the defendant's fingerprint was on the gun it could be concluded that he personally possessed the gun at some point in time while trafficking in cocaine. Thus, even <u>Menendez</u>

⁵ "In the instant case competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that appellant carried or used a firearm in the course of trafficking in cocaine." Menendez at 212.

stands for the proposition that actual personal possession is a necessary element under F.S. 775.087(1).

The facts of this case are consistent and unambiguous. While attempting to evade capture the passenger, in a car driven by Anibal Rodriguez reached under the car seat, produced a rifle, held it between his legs, then aimed the gun at pursuing police officers and fired. (TT. 750, 751). Defendant did nothing with respect to the carrying, use, display or attempted use of the weapon at any time from the moment the gun was first retrieved until it was fired. Giving the State the benefit of the doubt that the "premeditation to shoot" was formed before the passenger retrieved the rifle, this Defendant still does not fall within the definition of F.S. 775.087(1). There is no evidence that Anibal Rodriguez maneuvered the car into a firing position before shots were fired. (TT. 692, 693). Even if he did, that still does not qualify as personal use of a weapon as required by the statute.

The State's next effort to create a "constructive use" of the gun focuses on two car theft cases, <u>G.C. v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) <u>affirmed</u> 572 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1991) and <u>G.D. v. State</u>, 557 So.2d 123 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). The State relies on these cases for the proposition that "use" may occur indirectly when a co-defendant rides as a passenger in a stolen car.

⁶ Such maneuvering, if it occurred, happened after the first series of shots were fired. (TT. 695, 755, 780).

Neither of those cases supports the State's position in this case. The State, first and most importantly overlooks the fact that insofar as theft is concerned "use" is statutorily defined.

See, F.S. 812.012(2). Thus, in construing that statute the legislative definition is operative. Under the legislative definition of use, riding as a passenger in a stolen car without the owner's permission constitutes "use". That definition does not carry over to the statute at issue here, F.S. 775.087, which does not define any of its terms.

Next, <u>G.D. v. State</u>, 557 Sc.2d 123 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) merely holds that an aider and abettor can be punished as a principal. In <u>G.D.</u> the defendant, although not a party to the original theft, helped hide a stolen car after taking a joy ride in it. He was therefore properly convicted of auto theft. <u>G.D.</u> has nothing to do with "use" or its definition and more importantly it has nothing to do with F.S. 775.087(1). Similarly, <u>State v. G.C.</u>, 572 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1991) has no bearing on this case. <u>G.C.</u> dealt with auto theft and the <u>statutory</u> definition of use. Interestingly, the case held that while one may "use" a stolen car by being a passenger in it, one may not be convicted of theft without proof that the passenger formed the necessary specific intent to "take" the car. Thus, in <u>G.C.</u> the adjudication of delinquency was revered because statutory "use" was not a sufficient basis to also prove intent.

The State next argues that unarmed co-defendants can be convicted of the same degree of criminality as an armed co-defendant. Thus, unarmed accomplices can be guilty of armed

robbery if a co-defendant is armed. The State cites two cases for However, the State's reliance on Jenkins v. this proposition. State, 448 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) and Hillman v. State, 410 So.2d 180 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982) is again off base. With respect to robbery, both Jenkins and Hillman held that all co-defendants could be convicted of armed robbery even if only one of the defendants However, both cases held that the enhancement was armed. provisions of F.S. 775.087(2) could not be applied to the unarmed robbers and their sentences thereunder were vacated. permissible conviction of an aider and abettor to the highest degree of crime committed by a co-defendant is well established. An unarmed criminal assumes all liabilities for the most serious crimes committed by any cohort. In fact, Anibal Rodriguez was convicted of attempted murder on the same theory by virtue of the actions of the passenger. But, as expressly held in both Jenkins and Hillman, the fact that an armed felon may subject himself to separate enhanced statutory penalties for particular acts does not mean such enhancements apply vicariously to unarmed cohorts. Anibal Rodriguez's lack of personal possession or use of the rifle during the course of the commission of the attempted murder

prohibits the enhancement of his sentence pursuant to F.S.775.087(1).7

⁷ The State gratuitously argues that Anibal also possessed a .25 caliber hand gun. It is unclear whether the State is suggesting that this weapon can be used as a basis to enhance Mr. Rodriguez's crime under F.S. 775.087(1). If it is, then the argument is made in bad faith. That weapon was not charged in the information, was not part of the jury instructions, and was not a basis of his conviction. As such, it has no place in this appeal. As will be argued in the following section, in order to enhance a penalty under F.S. 775.087(1) the weapon used must be charged and the use of the weapon must be specifically found by a jury. See State v. McKinnon, 540 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989).

II. THE FAILURE TO SUBMIT THE ISSUE OF ANIBAL RODRIGUEZ'S USE OF A RIFLE FOR DETERMINATION BY THE JURY PRECLUDES ENHANCEMENT UNDER F.S. 775.087(1).

The State's argument fails for another reason. The case law is clear that the enhancement provisions of F.S. 775.087(1) cannot be applied unless a jury has specifically found that the defendant used or possessed a weapon during the commission of a felony. A case on point is Lopez v. State, 470 So.2d 58 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). In that case defendant Lopez was convicted of attempted murder and robbery with a firearm. During the attempted robbery a cohort of Lopez's shot and wounded a store owner. The information specifically charged defendant Lopez and his co-defendants with attempted murder by use of a pistol. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to Count I (Attempted First Degree Murder without weapon) but that verdict did not include a specific finding that Lopez committed the offense with a firearm. The appellate court reversed the enhanced conviction of Mr. Lopez of attempted first degree murder with a firearm. See also State v. Overstreet, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984) (holding that the question of whether an accused actually possessed a weapon is a question which must actually be decided by a jury).

Although the jury verdict in this case found Mr. Rodriguez guilty as charged in Count I, there is no specific finding that he used a firearm. In fact, the specific language of the verdict is, "Anibal Rodriguez, as charged in Count I of the information (Attempted First Degree Murder). Guilty." (App. F). The information actually charges Mr. Rodriguez with Attempted First

Degree Murder by shooting a rife. (App. C). However, the issue of Anibal Rodriguez's use of a gun is not carried over into the verdict. Furthermore, the jury instructions delivered by the court nowhere indicated that the use of a firearm was an element of the crime charged. 8 (App. G.). In fact, the word rifle, or weapon is not used at all in any part of the jury instructions. See also, Lamarca v. State, 515 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) (wherein the court of appeal reversed a trial court's determination reclassifying a kidnapping offense from a first degree felony to a life felony in the absence of a specific jury finding that the defendant used a weapon during the kidnapping), and Douglas v. State, 523 So.2d 704 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988).

The failure of the trial court to instruct the jury that use of a weapon was an essential element of the crime charged, and the jury's further failure to specifically find by interrogatory or otherwise that the defendant used a firearm in the commission of the charged crime, precludes enhancement under F.S. 775.087(a)(1). In fact, the State concedes that Mr. Rodriguez was guilty of attempted murder as an accomplice, not as the personal user of the weapon. At trial the State never argued that Mr. Rodriguez ever used the weapon, or that he even possessed the rifle.

⁸ The verdict form finds Mr. Rodriguez guilty of "attempted first degree murder", not of "attempted first degree murder with a weapon". See Davis v. State, 486 So.2d 45 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) wherein a verdict form found Davis guilty of attempted second degree murder with a firearm rather than the alternative, guilty of attempted second degree murder without a firearm. Because of this specific finding, enhancement pursuant to F.S. 775.87(1) was appropriate. See also, Denmark v. State, 544 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

⁹ See TT. p. 644-645 attached as App. H.

The failure to submit this issue for resolution by the jury is a fundamental error and bars the State from bootstrapping the verdict to the information. Williams v. State, 400 So.2d 52 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981). Williams stands for the proposition that the failure to instruct a jury of an essential element is fundamental error if the omitted element is "pertinent or material to what must actually be considered by jury in order to convict." Id. at 543. The case further holds that the element must have been in dispute before it's omission from the jury charge can be deemed fundamental error. See also, Thomas v. State, 526 So.2d 183 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988), and Douglas v. State, 523 So.2d 704 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988) (enhancement pursuant to F.S. 775.087(1) was vacated because issue of whether defendant had used a firearm was never submitted to the jury).

In this case the entire defense presented by Mr. Rodriguez rested on the fact that he never possessed or fired the weapon. The defense rested on the premise that the shooting was accomplished by a co-defendant over whom Mr. Rodriguez had no control. (TT. p. 1288, 1290, 1294, 1302, App.I). His use of the weapon, as well as in his acquiescence to the use of the weapon by the co-defendant was the central issue to be decided. The failure to instruct the jury that Mr. Rodriguez's personal use of the weapon was necessary for conviction was an omission of the centrally disputed factual question and is fundamental error, especially where such personal use is a pre-requisite to sentencing under F.S. 775.087(1).

III. CONSTRUCTIVE POSSESSION OF A WEAPON DOES NOT SUBJECT A DEFENDANT TO THE ENHANCEMENT PROVISIONS OF F.S. 775.087(1).

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